FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 10/23/2020 4:25 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/26/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>99147-2</u> (COA No. 78856-6-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

FRANCISCO MORENO,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
katehuber@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Francisco Moreno, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the published Court of Appeals decision, filed August 17, 2020, terminating review. The Court of Appeals denied a motion to reconsider on September 24, 2020. RAP 13.3(a)(1), 13.4(b).

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Burglary requires a person unlawfully enter or remain in a building, and a person must know of the unlawfulness of this entry or remainder. Knowledge is part of the common law defining burglary and is an essential element of the lesser included offense of trespass. The Court of Appeals held trespass is not a lesser included offense of burglary and therefore knowledge of the unlawfulness is not an element of the offense of burglary. The Court of Appeals opinion holding trespass is not a lesser included offense of burglary is contrary to decisions from this Court and other Court of Appeals decisions.
- 2. Essential to the crime of burglary is not only that a person is somewhere he has no right to be, but that he *knows* he has no right to be there. The State must allege all essential elements in the information, and courts must instruct jurors on all essential elements in the "to-convict" instruction. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming Mr. Moreno's conviction for burglary where this contested essential element was not

charged in the information and not presented to the jury in the "to convict" instruction.

- 3. The right to a fair trial and the discovery rules require the State to disclose certain evidence before trial, as well as any other information the court orders disclosed in its discretion. The court ordered the State to disclose its intent to use any of the calls Mr. Moreno made from jail, and, although the State made no such disclosures, the court permitted it to introduce statements from the calls. Contrary to several Court of Appeals decisions, both the trial and appellate court excused the State's failure to identify the calls and found it did not violate discovery obligations because the statements were rebuttal and impeachment evidence.
- 4. The domestic violence penalty assessment is a discretionary legal financial obligation (LFO). This Court has repeatedly interpreted LFO statutes to prohibit the imposition of discretionary LFOs on indigent individuals. The trial court imposed this assessment even though it found Mr. Moreno was indigent, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the imposition because it held the assessment was not a cost of prosecution. The statute and this Court's precedent prohibit the imposition of this discretionary LFO on indigent defendants.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Francisco Moreno with first-degree burglary, fourth-degree assault, and interfering with the reporting of domestic violence for entering Ashley Vollmar's house and allegedly assaulting her. CP 162-63. At trial, the parties contested whether Mr. Moreno still lived in the house and whether he thought he had permission to be there.

Mr. Moreno moved into Ms. Vollmar's home shortly after they began dating in August 2017. 2RP¹ 186, 289-90. Ms. Vollmar testified she "kicked out" Mr. Moreno in October 2017, changed the locks, and that they were no longer living together by the time of the incident in April 2018, although she admitted they continued their relationship until January. 2RP 186-89. Mr. Moreno, conversely, testified he was still living at the residence with Ms. Vollmar at the time of the incident and they were still in a relationship. 2RP 289-90, 294, 300, 303, 316. Ms. Vollmar agreed that Mr. Moreno still came to the house regularly and had spent the night at the house with her permission as recently as the week of the incident. 2RP 208-09, 215-16.

Ms. Vollmar claimed that, on the day of the incident, she retrieved her car, which Mr. Moreno had taken without her permission earlier in the

¹ The VRPs for the trial and post-trial dates are paginated consecutively and referred to by volume and page. The VRPs for the pretrial dates are referred to by date and page.

week. 2RP 208-11, 214-16. When Mr. Moreno called her to confront her, she lied to him about taking the car. 2RP 215, 217. According to Ms. Vollmar, Mr. Moreno called again, threatened to assault her, and then broke into her house and did assault her. 2RP 193-94, 217-18. Ms. Vollmar called 911 shortly before Mr. Moreno entered the house. 2RP 191. Police arrested him in the driveway. 2RP 231, 245, 272.

Mr. Moreno explained they shared the car and that he had left his cellphone, house keys, and wallet in the car while it was parked at a bar. 2RP 293-96, 303-06. Ms. Vollmar was upset with him because he had been spending time with the mother of his son instead of with her. 2RP 295-96. When he discovered the car missing, he sought a ride home. 2RP 296-97. Upon arriving, he did not have his keys, which had been left in the car. 2RP 297. After knocking without response, he accidentally burst through the back door trying to get in. 2RP 297-98, 307, 310.

As soon as Mr. Moreno entered their bedroom and turned on the light, Ms. Vollmar threw Mr. Moreno's telephone at him, which she had retrieved from the car she took. 2RP 298, 307-08; 3RP 386. In addition to much yelling and screaming, the two of them wrestled as Mr. Moreno tried to retrieve his wallet, which Ms. Vollmar had also taken from the car. 2RP 298-99, 308. Ms. Vollmar yelled at Mr. Moreno to leave, which he did. 2RP 298-99, 308.

Before trial, Mr. Moreno moved the court to order the State to identify "what specific phone calls they plan on using" at trial from a compact disc of all of the telephone calls Mr. Moreno made from jail. 6/29/18RP 44. The court granted the motion and ordered the State to disclose the identity of any calls it intended to use by July 2, 2017. 6/29/18RP 46; CP 187.

The State never disclosed any telephone calls they intended to use at trial. 3RP 328-31. Despite this, the court allowed the State to introduce statements from jail calls over Mr. Moreno's objections. 3RP 327-49. The State introduced statements by Mr. Moreno that he was not staying at their residence and that the car was taken from him not when he was at a bar but at another residence. 3RP 345, 366-68, 372-76.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals ignored this Court's precedent, its own opinions, and the common law presumption in favor of a mens rea element to conclude that knowledge of the unlawfulness is not an essential element of burglary.

Where a fact is "necessary to establish the very illegality" of an offense, it is essential element. *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013) (quoting *State v. Ward*, 148 Wn.2d 803, 811, 64 P.3d 640 (2003)). For burglary, knowledge of the unlawfulness of the entry or remaining is such a fact. Courts must interpret burglary to require proof

not only that the entry or remaining is unlawful in fact but also that the defendant *knew* the entry or remaining was unlawful.

The State did not allege knowledge of the unlawfulness in the information and the court did not instruct the jury the prosecution must prove knowledge of the unlawfulness. Because this contested essential element was lacking in the information and the "to convict" jury instruction, Mr. Moreno's conviction for burglary must be reversed, and the Court of Appeals erred in affirming his conviction. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b).

a. The law of lesser included offenses demonstrates knowledge of the unlawfulness of the entry or remaining is an essential element of burglary.

This Court and all three divisions of the Court of Appeals have long recognized that criminal trespass in the first degree is a legal lesser included offense of all three burglary offenses.² "[B]urglary is a criminal trespass with the added element of intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein." *State v. J.P.*, 130 Wn. App. 887, 895, 125 P.3d 215 (2005).

² Criminal trespass in the first degree is lesser included offense of burglary in the first degree, *State v. Southerland*, 109 Wn.2d 389, 390, 745 P.2d 33 (1987); *State v. Mounsey*, 31 Wn. App. 511, 517-18, 643 P.2d 892 (1982), of burglary in the second degree, *State v.*

Olsen, 182 Wn. App. 362, 375, 329 P.3d 121 (2014); State v. Allen, 127 Wn. App. 945, 950, 113 P.3d 523 (2005); State v. Soto, 45 Wn. App. 839, 841, 727 P.2d 999 (1986), and of residential burglary, State v. Pittman, 134 Wn. App. 376, 384, 166 P.3d 720 (2006); State v. J.P., 130 Wn. App. 887, 895, 125 P.3d 215 (2005).

Trespass requires knowledge of the unlawfulness of the entry in addition to proof of the unlawfulness in fact. RCW 9A.52.070(1); *State v. R.H.*, 86 Wn. App. 807, 812-13, 939 P.2d 217 (1997); *State v. Soto*, 45 Wn. App. 839, 841, 727 P.2d 999 (1986); *State v. Mounsey*, 31 Wn. App. 511, 517, 643 P.2d 892 (1982). RCW 9A.52.070(1) provides, "A person is guilty of criminal trespass in the first degree if he or she knowingly enters or remains unlawfully in a building." Courts have recognized this requires a subjective knowledge of the unlawfulness of the entry or remaining that is separate from the unlawfulness in fact. *R.H.*, 86 Wn. App. at 812-13; *Soto*, 45 Wn. App. at 841; *Mounsey*, 31 Wn. App. at 517. The pattern jury instruction also demonstrates the element of knowledge of the unlawfulness. 11A Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr., Crim. WPIC 60.16 (4th ed. 2016) (including as element in "to convict" instruction, "That the defendant knew that the entry or remaining was unlawful").

Following the logic of the law of lesser included offenses, if knowledge of the unlawful entry or remaining is an essential element of trespass, it must also be an essential element of the greater offense of burglary. By definition, a lesser included offense has every element of the greater offense. *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-49, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). Because knowledge of the unlawfulness is an element of trespass,

and trespass is a lesser included offense of burglary, knowledge of the unlawfulness is an element of burglary.

b. The common law further demonstrates knowledge of the unlawfulness of the entry or remaining is an essential element of burglary.

The historical importance of the actor's mens rea as an essential element also shows one's underlying mental state is part of burglary.

There is "a longstanding presumption, traceable to the common law," that criminal statutes require proof of "a culpable mental state regarding 'each of the statutory elements that criminalize otherwise innocent conduct."
Rehaif v. United States, __ U.S. __, 139 S. Ct. 2191, 2195, 204 L. Ed. 2d.
594 (2019) (quoting United States v. X-Citement Video, Inc., 513 U.S. 64,
72, 115 S. Ct. 464, 130 L. Ed. 2d 372 (1994)); State v. Anderson, 141
Wn.2d 357, 363-64, 5 P.3d 1247 (2000). "[W]rongdoing must be
conscious to be criminal." Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246, 252,
72 S. Ct. 240, 96 L. Ed. 288 (1952).

At common law, the requirement of "a guilty mind" was necessary to establish the very illegality of the offense of burglary. *State v. Montague*, 10 Wn. App. 911, 918, 521 P.2d 64 (1974) (interpreting common law burglary to require "a guilty mind" to satisfy the "unlawful entry" element). If a defendant lacks the knowledge that his or her

entering or remaining is unlawful, he lacks "a guilty mind" as to one of the essential elements of burglary.

c. The Court of Appeals ignored this Court's precedent and decades of cases recognizing trespass is a lesser included offense to wrongly conclude knowledge of the unlawfulness is not an essential element of burglary.

The Court of Appeals ruled knowledge of the unlawful nature of the person's entry or remainder in a building is not an essential element of burglary. Slip Op. at 6-11. In doing so, the court ignored precedent from this Court and disregarded its own opinions and instead erroneously relied on dicta from a 33-year-old Court of Appeals' opinion to reject Mr. Moreno's argument. Slip Op. at 8-10.

In *State v. Kilponen*, the court stated in dicta that burglary does not require proof the defendant knew he was acting unlawfully. 47 Wn. App. 912, 919-20, 737 P.2d 1024 (1987). However, as the Court of Appeals acknowledged in its opinion, *Kilponen*'s conclusion that burglary does not require knowledge of the unlawfulness was not essential to the resolution of the case. Slip. Op. at 9. In *Kilponen*, the defense proposed the instruction, which lacked knowledge of the unlawfulness, that the defendant then challenged on appeal. Therefore, the court did not need to consider his argument to resolve the appeal because the error was invited. *Kilponen*, 47 Wn. App. at 919. The court here nonetheless followed that case's dicta and dismissed Mr. Moreno's challenge. Slip Op. at 9.

The court abandoned well-established law and held, contrary to cases dating back to the adoption of the Revised Code of Washington in 1975, that trespass is not a lesser included offense of burglary. Slip Op. at 8-11. In doing so, the Court ignored binding precedent from this Court holding to the contrary.

In *State v. Southerland*, this Court ruled trespass is a lesser included offense of burglary. The court affirmed the reversal of a burglary conviction where the trial court failed to instruct the jury on trespass. 109 Wn.2d 389, 390, 745 P.2d 33 (1987). This Court held:

The Court of Appeals was correct in its legal analysis regarding the failure of the trial court to instruct the jury on criminal trespass and in its conclusion that such failure was reversible error under the facts of this case with regard to the burglary conviction.

Id. The Court affirmed the Court of Appeals' legal analysis that the trial court erred in denying a trespass instruction as a lesser included offense of burglary where the facts warranted it. *Id.*; *State v. Southerland*, 45 Wn. App. 885, 888-90, 728 P.2d 1079 (1986).

A defendant is entitled to a lesser included offense instruction only where every element of the lesser offense is a necessary element of the greater and where the evidence supports an inference the defendant committed the lesser offense. *Workman*, 90 Wn.2d at 447-49. The *Southerland* court necessarily agreed trespass is a lesser included offense

of burglary when it affirmed reversal of a conviction based on the failure to provide this lesser included offense as an option for the jury.

The Court of Appeals ignored *Southerland* and instead deferred to the State's interpretation of a 1986 Court of Appeals case to dismantle decades of cases recognizing trespass as a lesser included offense. Slip Op. at 10 (discussing *Soto*, 45 Wn. App. at 840-41). The court also ignored cases holding "the unlawful entry element of criminal trespass is identical to the unlawful entry element of burglary." *State v. Cordero*, 170 Wn. App. 351, 370, 284 P.3d 773 (2012); *J.P.*, 130 Wn. App. at 895.

The Court of Appeals also rejected the common law presumption requiring a mens rea element because burglary requires the State to prove the defendant possessed the intent to commit a crime. Slip op. at 10-11. But the intent to commit a crime is a separate element. Possessing the intent to commit a crime does not establish the actor knew he was some place he was not legally permitted to be.

d. The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Moreno's conviction for burglary despite the government's failure to allege all of the essential elements in the information and the court's failure to instruct the jury on all of the essential elements.

The jury convicted Mr. Moreno of burglary, but the State never pled the essential element of knowledge of the unlawfulness in the information, and the court did not instruct the jury on this element in the "to convict" instruction. These errors prejudiced Mr. Moreno because the

issues of whether his presence in the house was unlawful, as well as whether he *knew* it was unlawful, were both contested at trial.

"[T]he accused . . . has a constitutional right to be apprised of the nature and cause of the accusation against him." *State v. Pry*, 194 Wn.2d 745, 751, 452 P.3d 536 (2019) (internal quotations omitted); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. Constitutional notice of the "nature and cause" of the charges against the accused requires the charging document to contain "all essential elements of the crime, statutory or otherwise, and the particular facts supporting them." *State v. Hugdahl*, 195 Wn.2d 319, 324, 458 P.3d 760 (2020); *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). Information that do not contain both the essential elements and a description of the specific conduct of the defendant which allegedly constituted the offense are constitutionally deficient. *Hugdahl*, 195 Wn.2d at 324.

The information here only alleged that Mr. Moreno entered and remained in Ms. Vollmar's residence, that the entry and remaining was unlawful, that he had the intent to commit a crime, and that he assaulted her. CP 162. The necessary element of knowledge of the unlawfulness is neither explicitly stated nor fairly implied under a liberal construction of the information. CP 162. Because the essential element of knowledge of the unlawfulness does not appear in the information, reversal is required

without proof of actual prejudice. *State v. Zillyette*, 173 Wn.2d 784, 786, 270 P.3d 589 (2012).

In addition, due process and the right to a jury trial require that the State prove every element of an offense to the jury. *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 477, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22; U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV. Jury instructions that relieve the State of its burden to prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt violate due process.

The court here did not instruct the jury that the State bore the burden of proving that Mr. Moreno *knew* his entry or remaining was unlawful. CP 127-28. Rather, the court instructed the jury it simply needed to find Mr. Moreno, in fact, entered or remained unlawfully, along with the other elements of burglary, to convict Mr. Moreno. CP 127-28. This was error.

The State cannot prove the omission of this element from the "to convict" instruction was harmless constitutional error. *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 15, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999); *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). The jury needed to decide whether the State proved Mr. Moreno knew his presence in the home was unlawful. Mr. Moreno testified he still lived there. 2RP 303, 316. He introduced records from the Department of Licensing establishing

the house as his residential address. Ex. 34. He said his clothes, personal items, and "pretty much everything" were at their house. 2RP 211, 292-95, 301. Mr. Moreno and Ms. Vollmar agreed he still received his checks there. 2RP 211, 215, 301. Given that this was a contested issue, the State cannot meet its burden to prove the instructional error was harmless. This Court should grant review.

2. The right to a fair trial and the criminal rules do not exempt rebuttal and impeachment evidence from discovery obligations, contrary to the Court of Appeals decision.

The court ordered the State to disclose its intent to use any of Mr.

Moreno's calls from jail by a date certain before trial. The State said it was not using the calls but then introduced statements by Mr. Moreno contained in two of those calls. The introduction of the statements following the State's failure to identify them in accordance with the court's order violated Mr. Moreno's rights to due process and a fair trial.

Due process and the right to a fair trial require the State to notify the defendant of the evidence against him. *State v. Boyd*, 160 Wn.2d 424, 434, 158 P.3d 54 (2007); *State v. Greiff*, 141 Wn.2d 910, 920-21, 10 P.3d 390 (2000). CrR 4.7 clarifies these constitutional rights and mandates disclosure of certain evidence, as well as any other information a court orders disclosed in its discretion. *State v. Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d 822, 826, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993). The State's failure to disclose evidence or comply

with a court's discovery order violates a defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial and the meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.

Greiff, 141 Wn.2d at 920; Blackwell, 120 Wn.2d at 826.

The State's discovery obligations are not limited to evidence it intends to present in its case in chief. *State v. Brush*, 32 Wn. App. 445, 455, 648 P.2d 897 (1982). "A prosecutor must also disclose relevant evidence if it is reasonably possible that the evidence will be used during any phase of the trial." *State v. Cole*, 117 Wn. App. 870, 879, 73 P.3d 411 (2003). Courts have repeatedly rejected narrower interpretations. *State v. Linden*, 89 Wn. App. 184, 193-94, 947 P.2d 1284 (1997); *State v. Dunivin*, 65 Wn. App. 728, 731-33, 829 P.2d 799 (1992). Instead, the State's obligation extends to information it could use in its "case-in-chief, for rebuttal, for impeachment purposes, or in some other way." *Dunivin*, 65 Wn. App. at 734 (internal quotations omitted).

The Court of Appeals incorrectly ruled the State could withhold its intent to use evidence against Mr. Moreno because it disclosed the calls. Slip. Op. at 11-16. But here the court ordered the State to disclose not only the evidence itself but also to identify the evidence it intended to use. The court ordered the State to identify the specific calls it planned to use at trial. 6/29/18RP 44, 46; CP 187. The court made no limitations on its

order. The State then affirmatively misled Mr. Moreno when it indicated it did not intend to use any of the calls as evidence at trial. 3RP 327-31.

Despite that, the State introduced statements about whether Mr. Moreno was staying at the residence with Ms. Vollmar and from where she took the car. 3RP 327-33, 367-68, 372-76. The court permitted the calls, finding them "proper rebuttal and impeachment," despite Mr. Moreno's objection based on the discovery order. 3RP 334. The Court of Appeals ruled the State complied with the order because it did not intend to introduce the calls until after Mr. Moreno testified. Slip. Op. at 15.

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