FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/2/2021 1:13 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99147-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

FRANCISCO RUBEN MORENO,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

II. ISSUES

The issues that the petitioner wants to have reviewed are set out in the Petition for Review at 1-2. For purposes of this Answer, they can be paraphrased as follows:

- (1) In a prosecution for burglary, is it an element that the defendant *knew* that his entry or remaining in the building was unlawful?
- (2) Prior to trial, the prosecutor disclosed all evidence that could be used to impeach the defendant if he testified. Did CrR 4.7 or the trial court's order require the prosecutor to identify the portions of that evidence that *would* be used for impeachment?
- (3) The statute dealing with the domestic violence penalty assessment says that "judges are encouraged to solicit input from the victim ... in assessing the ability of the convicted offender to pay the penalty." Does this statute preclude imposition of the assessment on an indigent defendant?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are set out in the Court of Appeals opinion. <u>State v. Moreno</u>, 14 Wn. App. 2d 143, 148-52 ¶¶ 2-11, 470 P.3d 507 (2020) (slip op. at 2-6).

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY HELD THAT KNOWLEDE IS NOT AN ELEMENT OF BURGLARY.
- 1. Since The Burglary Statutes Include An "Intent" Element That Precludes Prosecution For Innocent Conduct, There Is No Basis For Adding An Additional "Knowledge" Element.

The petitioner claims that the elements of burglary include the defendant's knowledge that his entry or remaining in a building was unlawful. Based on this claim, he contends that both the information and the jury instructions were inadequate. The Court of Appeals held that there is no such element. Moreno, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 156 ¶ 25 (slip op. at 11). This holding was correct.

To begin with, no such element appears in the statute. First degree burglary is defined in RCW 9A.52.020(1):

A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if, with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, he or she enters or remains unlawfully in a building and if, in entering or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, the actor or another participant in the crime (a) is armed with a deadly weapon, or (b) assaults any person.

A similar mental element is set out in the other burglary statutes. RCW 9A.52.025(1) (residential burglary), 9A.52.030(1) (second degree burglary).

The term "enters or remains unlawfully" is defined in RCW 9A.52.010(2):

A person "enters or remains unlawfully" in or upon premises when he or she is not then licensed, invited, or otherwise privileged to so enter or remain.

This definition contains no reference to a person's knowledge of his status.

In this regard, the statutory definition of burglary is significantly different from that of criminal trespass. For both degrees of trespass, the statutes require that the person "knowingly enters or remains unlawfully." RCW 9A.52.070(1), RCW 9A.52.080(1). In contrast, the statutory definitions of burglary contain no comparable knowledge element. This is particularly significant since the definitions of first and second degree burglary and both degrees of criminal trespass were enacted as part of the same statute — the Washington Criminal Code, Laws of 1975, 1st ex. sess., ch. 260. "When the legislature uses different words within the same statute, we recognize that a different meaning is intended." State v. Beaver, 148 Wn.2d 338, 343, 60 P.3d 586 (2002); see State v. Flores, 164 Wn.2d 1, 14, 186 P.3d 1038 (2008) (same rule applies to statutes relating to similar subject matter). If the legislature had intended knowledge to be an element of burglary, it would have said so, just as it did for criminal trespass.

2. Although Some Cases Have Treated Trespass As A Lesser Included Offense Of Burglary, None Of Them Have Added Any "Knowledge" Element To Burglary.

The defendant points out that several cases have treated first degree criminal trespass as a lesser included offense of burglary. None of these cases, however, purport to add any elements to the burglary statute. To the extent that they discuss the mental element at all, they reflect a now-repudiated view of the relationship between "intent" and "knowledge".

The first case discussing the relationship between criminal trespass and burglary was <u>State v. Mounsey</u>, 31 Wn. App. 511, 643 P.2d 892 (1982). The court held that second degree criminal trespass is *not* a lesser included offense of first degree burglary. This is because the two statutes apply to different kinds of "premises." In dicta, the court said that *first* degree criminal trespass was a lesser included offense of burglary. <u>Id.</u> at 517-18. The court did not, however, discuss the mental elements of any of these crimes.

The relationship between the mental elements was addressed in <u>State v. Soto</u>, 45 Wn. App. 839, 727 P.2d 999 (1986). The court held that first degree criminal trespass was a lesser included offense of second degree burglary. In reaching this

conclusion, the court recognized that the mental elements under the two statutes are different. Burglary requires intent to commit a crime against a person or property. First degree criminal trespass requires knowingly entering or remaining unlawfully in a building. The court reasoned, however, that the intent required for burglary could substitute for the knowledge required for criminal trespass. <u>Id.</u> at 841.

As the Court of Appeals recognized in the present case, this reasoning is flawed. Moreno, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 156 ¶ 24 (slip op, at 10-11). Under subsequent case law, intent can only substitute for knowledge if those mental states relate to the same fact. For example, an intent to assault someone does not substitute for knowledge that the victim is a law enforcement officer. State v. Atkins, 156 Wn. App. 799, 808-12 ¶¶ 27-35, 236 P.3d 897 (2010); State v. Goble, 131 Wn. App. 194, 126 P.3d 821 (2005). Similarly, an intent to commit a crime in a building does not substitute for knowledge that the entry is unpermitted. It is therefore possible to commit burglary (in any degree) without committing first degree criminal trespass. That could occur if a person enters or remains in a building unlawfully and with intent to commit a crime therein, but with the mistaken belief that his presence is lawful.

Later cases add nothing to Soto's analysis. Some of them simply cite to Soto. State v. J.P., 130 Wn. App. 887, 895, 125 P.3d 215 (2005); State v. Olson, 182 Wn. App. 362, 375 ¶ 39, 329 P.3d 121 (2014). One case deals with attempted burglary, which has different elements than the completed crime. State v. Pittman, 134 Wn. App. 376, 384 ¶ 12, 166 P.3d 720 (2006). In two other cases. the State conceded that trespass was a lesser included offense. State v. Allen, 127 Wn. App. 945, 950 ¶ 10, 113 P.3d 523 (2005); State v. Southerland, 45 Wn. App. 885, 728 P.2d 1079 (1986), rev'd in part on other grounds, 109 Wn.2d 387, 745 P.2d 33 (1987). In view of this concession, the Court of Appeals analysis in Southerland focused on the "factual prong." Southerland, 45 Wn. App. at 889. On review, this court "adopt[ed] that portion of the decision of the Court of Appeals." Id., 109 Wn.2d at 390. Since that portion of the Court of Appeals decision did not consider the "legal prong," this court did not consider it either.

The key point is that not a single one of these cases holds that knowledge is an element of burglary. Only one case (Soto) even discusses the mental states — and that case rests on the erroneous analysis that intent always substitutes for knowledge

Other cases either rely on <u>Soto</u> or fail to address the issue because it was conceded.

In future cases, this court may have to address whether first degree criminal trespass is a lesser included offense of burglary. In this case, that issue is not presented. Anything this court might say on that point would be dicta. For now, it is sufficient to recognize that the cases on lesser included offenses provide no basis for adding an element to the burglary statutes. The Court of Appeals holding on this point does not warrant review.

B. THE TRIAL COURT'S EXERCISE OF DISCRETION IN INTERPRETING AND ENFORCING ITS OWN DISCOVERY ORDER DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW.

The petitioner next asks this court to review the Court of Appeals decision with regard to discovery. This issue has to do with phone calls that petitioner made from jail. Prior to trial, the prosecutor provided the defense with copies of all of the calls that were ultimately used in rebuttal. 3 RP 329. What the prosecutor did not do was identify which specific *portions* of the calls would be used. This would have been essentially impossible. As the trial court pointed out, until the petitioner testified the prosecutor "could not be certain of what his testimony would be." 3 RP 334.

By disclosing the full contents of the calls, the prosecutor complied with CrR 4.7(a)(1). In relevant part, that rule states:

[T]he prosecuting attorney shall disclose to the defendant the following material and information within the prosecuting attorney's possession or control no later than the omnibus hearing:

(ii) any written or recorded statements and the substance of any oral statements made by the defendant...;

(v) any books, papers, documents, photographs, or tangible objects, which the prosecuting attorney intends to use in the hearing or trial...

CrR 4.7(a)(1)(v) has been construed as requiring disclosure of evidence when there is a reasonable possibility that it may be used for impeachment. State v. Linden, 89 Wn. App. 184, 192, 947 P.2d 1284 (1997); State v. Dunivin, 65 Wn. App. 728, 733, 829 P.2d 799 (1992). The prosecutor complied with this requirement, by disclosing all of the defendant's statements and all of the recordings that could be used at trial. The rule requires disclosure. It does not require the prosecutor to provide a detailed account of anticipated impeachment, before the prosecutor even knows what testimony the defendant will give.

Creating such a requirement would not facilitate the search for truth. Rather, it would allow defendants to tailor their testimony around gaps in the prosecutor's disclosure. If the prosecutor fails to anticipate the need for impeachment, a defendant could freely contradict his prior statements, safe in the knowledge that the jury would never learn about the contradictions.

The petitioner also claims that the prosecutor violated a pretrial order to disclose "if it intends to use any jail phone calls by [the petitioner]." 2 CP 187. The trial court interpreted the order as only requiring disclosure of calls that would be used in the State's case-in-chief. 3 RP 334. This is consistent with the court's questions at the hearing that led to entry of the order — the court has asked whether the prosecutor was "intending in your case in chief to use any of the jail calls." 6/29 RP 45. The interpretation of an order entered in this particular case does not warrant by this court.

Even if discovery requirements were violated, the remedy would lie within the discretion of the trial court. State v. Barry, 184 Wn. App. 790, 796 ¶ 8, 339 P.3d 200 (2014). "Exclusion or suppression of evidence is an extraordinary remedy and should be applied narrowly." State v. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998). Although the trial court here did not find a discovery

violation, it did provide relief to the defense. It excluded portions of recordings that did not contradict the defendant's testimony. 3 RP 334-35. It also recessed the case so that the defendant and defense counsel could listen to the entirety of the relevant phone calls. 3 RP 347-48.

This is comparable to the remedy that the court upheld in Linden. There, the prosecutor violated CrR 4.7 by failing to disclose impeachment evidence. The Court of Appeals nonetheless held that the trial court had properly exercised its discretion by granting "a continuance and opportunity to decide how best to counter the State's impeachment." Indeed, this approach was "particularly appropriate to the extent that it may deter defendant perjury." Linden, 89 Wn. App. at 196.

In the present case, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court had not abused its discretion in admitting portions of the phone calls. Moreno, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 161 ¶ 38 (slip op. at 16). The application of trial court discretion in this particular case does not warrant review.

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A \$100 DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PENALTY ASSESSMENT.

Finally, the petitioner challenges the trial court's imposition of a \$100 domestic violence penalty assessment. He appears to assert that such assessment cannot be imposed on a defendant who is indigent at the time of sentencing. The governing statute contains a specific provision dealing with ability to pay:

When determining whether to impose a penalty assessment under this section, judges are encouraged to solicit input from the victim or representatives for the victim in assessing the ability of the convicted offender to pay the penalty, including information regarding current financial obligations, family circumstances, and ongoing restitution.

RCW 10.99.050(5).

The statute thus "encourages" (but does not require) courts to solicit input concerning ability to pay in deciding whether to impose the penalty. Ability to pay is not the same as indigency at the time of sentencing. Nothing in this statute precludes imposition of the penalty on indigent offenders.

In this regard, the statute is significantly different from statutes dealing with other legal financial obligations. The 2018 legislature revised the provisions dealing with several kinds of financial assessment. It precluded the imposition of some

assessments on offenders who are indigent at the time of sentencing. Laws of 2018, ch. 269, § 6 (court costs), § 16 (conviction fee in courts of limited jurisdiction), § 17 (filing fee). The legislature did not, however, amend RCW 10.99.080. That statute remains unchanged: consideration of ability to pay is "encouraged" but not mandatory.

The reasons for this legislative decision are apparent. The amount of the assessment is small: no more than \$115. The legislature could conclude that most offenders can pay that amount over a period of time. The purpose of the assessment is to fund local domestic violence advocacy, prevention, and prosecution programs. RCW 10.95.050(2). The legislature could reasonably determine that the need to protect domestic victims would, in many cases, outweigh the burden on domestic violence perpetrators of paying a small sum over a period of time, without interest. Instead of establishing a blanket rule, the legislature entrusted the decision to the discretion of judges on a case-by-case basis. This court has no reason to overturn that legislative judgment.

This case presents a particularly inappropriate forum for reviewing the trial court's exercise of discretion, since the record is incomplete. At sentencing, the court said that it had reviewed a

defense sentencing memorandum. Sent. RP 458-59. That document, however, does not appear in the record. Without knowing what information the court had about the petitioner's personal circumstances, this court cannot intelligently review the sentencing court's exercise of discretion.

V. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.